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COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION, Plaintiff—
Appellee,

V.

A. Francis SIDOTI, Marc Stephen
Wuensch, Carrington Financial
Corp., Defendants—Appellants.

No. 97-5757.

United States Court of Appeals,
Eleventh Circuit.

June 21, 1999.

Commodities Futures Trading Com-
mission (CFTC) brought action against
commodities brokerage houses, sole share-
holder, officer, and director for one of bro-
kerage houses, and individual who provid-
ed capital for brokerage houses, alleging
that brokerage houses and their salespeo-
ple, or associated persons (APs), commit-
ted fraud in violation of Commodity Ex-
change Act (CEA) and CFTC rules,
charging brokerage houses, as principals,
and sole shareholder, as aider and abettor
and controlling person, with liability for
fraud, charging brokerage house and sole
shareholder with failure to supervise APs
adequately, and charging capital provider
with filing false and misleading registra-
tion statement. Following bench trial, the
United States District Court for the
Southern District of Florida, No. 92-6832—
cev-UUB, Ursula Ungaro-Benages, J.,
found brokerage house, sole shareholder,
and capital provider liable for alleged vio-
lations, enjoined future violations, and or-
dered disgorgement of profits. Brokerage
house, sole shareholder, and capital pro-
vider appealed. The Court of Appeals,
Black, Circuit Judge, held that: (1) broker-
age house’s risk disclosures did not pre-
clude its liability, as prineipal, for fraudu-
lent acts of its agents; (2) sole shareholder
was deliberately indifferent to fraud com-
mitted at brokerage house, and therefore
was liable for fraud as “controlling per-
son” under CEA; (3) brokerage house and
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sole shareholder did not adequately super-
vise brokerage house’s APs; (4) capital
provider qualified as “principal” of intro-
ducing broker; (5) injunction barring fur-
ther violations was not abuse of diseretion;
(6) period for which disgorgement of prof-
its could be ordered as remedy for CEA
violations was limited to time period as to
which evidence of fraud was received; and
(7) capital provider’s failure to register as
principal of introducing broker did not
support disgorgement order.

Affirmed in part, vacated in part, and
remanded.

1. Federal Courts €=850.1
Court of Appeals reviews the district
court’s factual findings for clear error.

2. Federal Courts &848

If the district court’s account of the
evidence is plausible in light of the record
viewed in its entirety, the Court of Appeals
must uphold its factual findings even if the
Court of Appeals would have weighed the
evidence differently; the district court’s
findings need only be plausible.

3. Commodity Futures Trading Regula-
tion &=27

Various disclosures of risk that were
made by commodities brokerage house in
account opening documents and post-solici-
tation compliance interviews did not ren-
der immaterial false statements made by
brokerage house’s salespeople, or associat-
ed persons (APs), so as to preclude bro-
kerage house’s liability, as principal, for
fraudulent acts of its agents under Com-
modity Exchange Act (CEA) and Com-
modities Futures Trading Commission
(CFTC) rules, particularly when APs in-
tentionally diluted effectiveness of risk dis-
closures, such as by describing them as
mere “formalities” and encouraging cus-
tomers not to read documents or pay at-
tention to scripted language of compliance
interviews. Commodity Exchange Act,
§§ 2(a)(1)(A), 4b(a), 4c(b), 7 U.S.C.A. §§ 4,
6b(a), 6c(b); 17 C.F.R. §§ 33.7(f), 33.10.
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4. Commodity Futures Trading Regula-
‘tion &23.1 .

Commodities - brokerage house’s sole
shareholder, officer, and director was de-
liberately indifferent to fraud committed at
brokerage house, and therefore was liable
for fraud as “controlling person” under
Commodity. Exchange Act (CEA); sole
shareholder hired supervisory personnel
with industry experience limited to firms
with history of sales fraud, 23 of brokerage
house’s 32 associated persons (APs), or
salespeople, had previously worked for
firms disciplined for sales practice fraud
and other 9 had previously worked for
firms against which fraud claims were
pending, and sole shareholder never pro-
vided sales training or otherwise acted to
address these deficiencies. Commodity
Exchange Act, § 13(b), 7 U.S.C.A.
§ 13c(b). :

See publication Words and Phras-

es for other judicial constructions
and definitions. :

5. Commodity Futures Trading Regula-
tion &23.1, 27 '

Commodities brokerage houise and its
sole shareholder, officer, and director did
not adequately supervise
house’s associated persons (APs), or sales-
people, in violation of Commodities Fu-
tures Trading Commission (CFTC) rules,
when they failed to establish  or maintain
meaningful procedures for detecting fraud
by their employees and when sole share-
holder knew of specific incidents of mis-~
conduct, yet failed to take reasonable steps
to eorrect problems. 17 C.F.R. § 166.3.

6. Commodity Futures Trading Regula-
tion ©23.1

Individual qualified as “principal” of
introducing broker under Commodities
Futures =Trading Commission (CFTC)
rules promulgated pursuant to Commodity
Exchange Act (CEA) and requiring all
prineipals of introducing broker to register
as such; individual exercised controlling
influence over introducing broker’s activi-
ties, as shown by testimony of introducing
broker’s own accountant, and capitalized

brokerage:

introducing broker. Commodity Ex-
change Act, §8§ 4f, 6(c), 8a(1), 7 U.S.C.A.
§8 6f, 13b, 12a(1); 17 C.F.R. §§ 3.1, 3.10,
3.31.

See publication Words and Phras-
es for other judicial constructions
and definitions.

7. Federal Courts ¢=813

Court of Appeals will not disturb the
district court’s choice of an equitable reme-
dy except for abuse of discretion.

8. Commodity Futures Trading Regula-
tion €91

Given likelihood of future violations of
Commodity Exchange Act (CEA), injunc-
tion barring future violations of CEA by
commodities brokerage house, its sole
shareholder, officer, and director, and indi-
vidual who provided capital was not abuse
of discretion. Commodity Exchange Act,
§ letseq,7 US.CA. § 1etseq.

9. Commodity Futures Trading Regula-
tion &T7

For purposes of determining propri-
ety of disgorgement as remedy for viola-
tions of Commodity Exchange Act (CEA),
Commodities Futures Trading Commission
(CFTC) has the burden of proving the
disgorgement figure reasonably approxi-
mates the amount of unjust enrichment.
Commodity Exchange Act, § 1 et seq., 7
US.C.A § 1etseq.

10. Commodity Futures Trading Regu-
lation €79 '

In imposing remedy for violation of
Commodity Exchange Act (CEA), district
court may not disgorge profits that were
obtained without the aid of any wrongdo-
ing. Commodity Exchange Act, § 1 et
seq., 7 US.C.A. § 1 et seq.

11. Commodity Futures Trading Regu-
lation &=79. - '
Period for which those found liable for
violations of Commodity Exchange Act
(CEA) could be ordered to disgorge profits
was limited to time period as to which
evidence of fraud violating CEA was re-
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ceived; district court could not order dis-
gorgement of profits for period for which
there was no record evidence of fraud.
Commodity Exchange Act, § 4b(a, b), 7
U.S.CA. § 6b(a, b); 17 C.F.R. §§ 33.7(f),
33.10.

12. Commodity Futures Trading Regu-
lation &79

Individual’s failure to register as prin-
cipal of introducing broker, in violation of
Commodities Futures Trading Commission
(CFTC) rules, did not justify order requir-
ing individual to disgorge profits in con-
nection with fraud that occurred at intro-
ducing broker and related commodities
brokerage house; CFTC did not allege that
individual knew of or participated in fraud-
ulent conduct, and failure to register, by
itself, was not causally related to introduc-
ing broker’s ill-gotten profits. Commodity
Exchange Act, §§ 4f, 6(c), 8a(l), 7
U.S.C.A. §§ 6f, 13b, 12a(1); 17 C.F.R.
§§ 3.1, 3.10, 3.31.

Thomas Tew, Joseph DeMaria, Tew &
Beasley, L.L.P., Miami, FL, for Carring-
ton and Wuensch.

Thomas D. Sclafani, F't. Lauderdale, FL,
James B. Koch, Chicago, IL, Michael S.
Pasano, Guy A. Rasco, Zuckerman, Spae-
der, Taylor & Evans, LLP, Miami, FL, for
Sidoti.

Thomas E. Scott, U.S. Atty., Dawn Bow-
en, Asst. U.S. Atty., Miami, FL, Gracem-
ary Rizzo, Michael Garawski, J. Douglas
Richards, CFTC, Washington, DC, for
Plaintiff-Appellee.

Appeals from the United States District
Court for the Southern District of Florida.

Before TJOFLAT, BLACK and
CARNES, Circuit Judges.

BLACK, Circuit Judge:

Appellants A. Francis Sidoti, Marc Ste-
phen Wuensch, and Carrington Financial
Corp. (Carrington) appeal the district
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court’s final judgment finding them liable
for violations of the Commodity Exchange
Act (the Act) and Commodity Futures
Trading Commission (CFTC) Rules, en-
joining further violations, and ordering dis-
gorgement of all profits they obtained
from January 1, 1990 to September 29,
1997, the date of the order. We affirm the
district court’s findings of liability and its
injunction against further violations, but
vacate its disgorgement order and remand
for entry of judgment consistent with this
opinion. '

I. BACKGROUND

In 1990, Appellant Sidoti, through his
company The Francis Group, agreed to
provide capital to Clifford Bagnall, Jr.s
commodities brokerage houses in return
for 90% of their profits. One such broker-
age house was First Sierra, which began
operating as Trinity Financial Group, Inc.
(Trinity) in 1991. Trinity had offices in
Fort Lauderdale and Aventura, Florida,
and its salespeople, or associated persons
(APs), solicited customers to trade com-
modity futures contracts, as well as options
on commodity futures contracts. Appel-
lant Wuensch supervised the APs in Trini-
ty’s Aventura office. Although Bagnall,
Jr. was Trinity’s sole record shareholder,
officer, and director, Sidoti directed the
distribution of 90% of Trinity’s profits to
himself. After Bagnall, Jr. died in Decem-
ber 1991, Wuensch took over Trinity’s
Aventura office, which began operating as
Carrington on January 6, 1992. Wuensch
became Carrington’s sole shareholder, offi-
cer, and director.

In August 1992, the CFTC filed a com-
plaint against Appellants, charging:

1. that Carrington and Trinity APs
committed fraud, in violation of Sections
4b(a) and 4c(b) of the Act, codified at 7
U.S.C. §§ 6b(a), 6¢(b), and CFTC Rules
33.7(f) and 33.10, codified at 17 C.F.R.
§8 33.7(f), 33.10, and charging Carrington
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and Trinity ! with liability for the fraud as
principals, pursuant to Section
2(a)(1)}A)({ii) of the Aect, codified at 7
U.S.C. § 4, and CFTC Rule 1.2, codified at
17CFR.§ 12

2. Wuensch individually with lability
for Trinity’s and Carrington’s fraud, as an
aider and abettor, pursuant to Section
13(a) of the Act, codified at 7 U.S.C.
§ 13c(a), and as a controlling person, pur-
suant to Section 13(b) of the Act, codified
at 7 U.8.C. § 13c(b);

8. Carrington and Wuensch with fail-
ure to supervise adequately Carrington
APs, in violation of CFTC Rule 166.3, codi-
fied at 17 C.F.R. § 166.3; and

4. Trinity and Sidoti with filing a false
and misleading registration statement in
that they failed to identify Sidoti as a
principal and subsequently failed to cor-
rect the deficiency, in violation of Sections
4f, 6(c), and 8a(l) of the Act, codified at 7
U.S.C. §8 6f, 18b, 12a(1), and CFTC Rules
310 and 3.31, codified at 17 C.F.R.
§§ 3.10, 3.31.

On September 29, 1997, after a lengthy
bench trial the district court entered its
final judgment and the accompanying or-
ders finding Appellants liable for all al-
leged violations, enjoining further viola-
tions, and ordering disgorgement of all

1. Trinity consented to an order of permanent
injunction in June 1993 and is not a party on
appeal.

2. The district court issued a partially-reported
order, entitled Findings of Fact and Conclu-
sions of Law, in which it found ample evi-
dence of fraud at Trinity and Carrington and
concluded that Appellants were liable for all
alleged violations. See Commodity Futures
Trading Comm’n v. Trinity Fin. Group, Inc.,
Comm. Fut. L. Rep. (CCH) 127,179 (S.D.Fla.
Sept. 29, 1997) (unofficially reporting the
Findings of Fact portion of the order). In
addition, the district court issued an.unre-
ported order, entitled Order of Permanent
Injunction, Disgorgement, and Other Ancil-
lary Equitable Relief, in which it enjoined
further violations and ordered Appellants to
disgorge all profits obtained from 1990 to the
date of the order. Finally, the district court

profits obtained from January 1, 1990 to
the date of the order.?

II. DISCUSSION

A. Liability

[1,2] We review the district court’s
factual findings for clear error. Anderson
v. Bessemer City, 470 U.S. 564, 573-74, 105
S.Ct. 1504, 1511-12, 84 1..Ed.2d 518 (1985).
“If the district court’s account of the evi-
dence is plausible in light of the record
viewed in its entirety,” we must uphold the
factual findings even if we would have
weighed the evidence differently. Id. The

district court’s findings need only be “plau-
sible.” Id.

1. Carrington liable for the fraud of its
agents

[31 The district court found Carrington
liable for the fraudulent acts and omissions
of its APs, pursuant to section
2(a)A)(A)iil) of the Act, which makes a
principal liable for acts of its agents. 7
U.S.C. § 4. The district court found Car-
rington APs engaged in fraudulent solicita-
tions, in violation of Sections 4b(a) and
4c(b) of the Act and CFTC Rules 33.7(%)
and 83.102 Specifically, the court found
Carrington APs misrepresented the profit-
ability of options trading by: (1) falsely
telling customers certain market condi-

entered final judgment in favor of the CFTC
based on the above two orders.

3. Sections 4b(a) and 4c(b) of the Act prohibit
fraud in connection with transactions in com-
modity futures contracts and options on com-
modity futures contracts. CFTC Rule 33.10
‘makes it unlawful to “cheat or defraud or
attempt to cheat or defraud any other per-
son,” to ‘“‘make or cause to be made to any
other person any false report or statement,”
or “[tlo deceive or attempt to deceive any
other person’” in connection with any com-
modity . option transaction.....CFTC = Rule
33.7(f), which bolsters Rule 33.10, states that
making standard written risk disclosures
“does not relieve ... an introducing broker

. from ... the obligation to disclose all
material information to existing or prospec-
tive option customers.”
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tions or seasonal trends almost guaranteed
profits; (2) baselessly telling customers
they could quickly make tremendous re-
turns on their investments; and (3) dis-
torting their bad track records. The dis-
trict court also found Carrington APs
downplayed the degree of risk involved in
investing in commodity options. For in-
stance, they told customers the risks of
trading commodity options were non-exis-
tent or minimal. The district court related
in great detail the abundant evidence of
fraudulent solicitations by Carrington APs.

On appeal, Carrington does not dispute
the evidence of false statements by its
APs, but asserts the false statements do
not constitute material fraud. Recognizing
that misstatements about the profitability
and risk of trading commodity options
would be material, Carrington contends it
made various disclosures of risk in account
opening documents and post-solicitation
compliance interviews that rendered those
misrepresentations immaterial. We seri-
ously doubt whether boilerplate risk dis-
closure language could ever render an ear-
lier material misrepresentation immaterial.
Moreover, in this ease Carrington APs in-
tentionally diluted the effectiveness of any
such risk disclosures. For example, Car-
rington APs described the risk disclosures
as mere “formalities” and encouraged cus-
tomers not to read the documents or pay
attention to the scripted language of the
compliance interviews. We hold the rec-
ord amply supports the district court’s
conclusion that Carrington APs engaged in
material fraud.

2. Wuensch liable for the fraud at
Carrington and Trinity

[4] The district court found Wuensch
secondarily liable for the violations of Car-
rington and Trinity as an aider and abet-
tor, and alternatively, as a controlling per-
son. The district court found Wuensch
knowingly associated himself with the
fraud perpetrated by Carrington and Trin-
ity APs and sought by his actions to make
that fraud succeed. The district court
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found Wuensch, who does not dispute he
was a controlling person, failed to act in
good faith and knowingly induced the acts
constituting the violations at Trinity and
Carrington.

While not challenging the district court’s
findings of fraud at Trinity and Carring-
ton, Wuensch maintains on appeal that
there was insufficient evidence he aided,
abetted, or deliberately ignored the fraud
there. Under Section 13(a) of the Act, an
individual is liable as an aider and abettor
if he “willfully aids, abets, counsels, com-
mands, induces, or procures the commis-
sion of, a violation of any of the provisions
of [the Act or CFTC Rules]l” 7 US.C.
§ 13c(a). Under Section 13(b) of the Act,
an individual is liable as a controlling per-
son if he “directly or indirectly, controls
any person who has violated [the Act or
CFTC Rules]. In such action, the Com-
mission has the burden of proving that the
controlling person did not act in good faith
or knowingly induced, directly or indirect-
ly, the act or acts constituting the viola-
tion.” 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b).

Wuensch hired supervisory personnel
with industry experience limited to firms
with a history of sales fraud. Out of Car-
rington’s 32 APs, 23 previously worked for
firms disciplined for sales practice fraud,
and the other 9 previously worked for
firms against which fraud claims were
pending. Wuensch never provided sales
training or otherwise acted to address
these deficiencies. The record supports
the district court’s conclusion that
Wuensch was deliberately indifferent to
the fraud at Carrington and Trinity and
therefore is liable as a controlling person.
See, e.g., Monieson v. CFTC, 996 F.2d 852,
861 (7th Cir.1993) (“[A] controlling person
has a duty to act; he cannot simply avoid
addressing the issue and hope it goes
away.”); Mattingly v. United States, 924
F.2d 785, 792 (8th Cir.1991) (“[Tlhe ele-
ment of knowledge may be inferred from
deliberate acts amounting to willful blind-
ness to the existence of fact or acts consti-
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tuting conscious purpose to avoid enlight-
enment.”).

3. Carrington and Wuensch liable for
Sfailure to supervise Carrington em-
ployees

[5] The distriet court found Carrington
and Wuensch liable under CFTC Rule
166.3 for failure to supervise adequately
Carrington APs. The district court specifi-
cally found Carrington and Wuensch failed
to establish or maintain meaningful proce-
dures for detecting fraud by their employ-
ees and Wuensch knew of specific inci-
dents of misconduct, yet -failed to take
reasonable steps to correct the problems.

On appeal, Carrington and Wuensch do
not challenge the district court’s findings
of fraud at Carrington, but they assert
there was insufficient evidence they failed
adequately to supervise Carrington em-
ployees. We hold the record supports the
district eourt’s conclusion that Carrington
and Wuensch did not adequately supervise
Carrington employees.

4. Sidoti liable for failure to register

[6] The district court found Sidoti lia-
ble for failing to register as a principal of
Trinity. Pursuant to sections 4f and 8a(1)
of the Act, the CFTC promulgated CFTC
Rule 8.10, which requires all principals of
an introducing broker (IB) to register.
Trinity submitted an application for regis-
tration as an IB on November 15, 1990,
but neither Trinity nor Sidoti ever identi-
fied Sidoti as a principal. The district
court found that Sidoti was a principal of
Trinity and that by concealing his status as
a principal and by failing to file the re-
quired statements, Trinity and Sidoti made
a “false and misleading statement of mate-
rial fact in [a] registration application,” in

4. Section 6(c) of the Act and CFTC Rule 3.31
are companion provisions to Rule 3.10. See 7
U.S.C. § 9 (authorizing the CFTC to seek to
prohibit from future trading any person who
“has willfully made any false or misleading
statement of a material fact in any registra-

violation of Sections 4f, 6(c) and 8a(l) of
the Act and CFTC Rules 8.10 and 8.31.%

On appeal, Sidoti concedes he failed to
register, but asserts he was not a principal
of Trinity. CFTC regulations define a
“principal” of an IB to include: (1) any
person who has the direct or indirect pow-
er to exercise a controlling influence over
the IB’s activities; (2) any beneficial owner
of ten percent or more of the outstanding
shares of any class of stock; or (3) any
person who has contributed ten percent or
more of the IB’s capital. CFTC Rule 3.1,
codified at 17 C.F.R. § 3.1. Contrary to
Sidoti’s contention, the record contains evi-
dence that Sidoti exercised a controlling
influence over the activities of Trinity. In
fact, Charles Bagnall III, Trinity’s own
accountant, testified extensively about Si-
doti’s controlling influence over Trinity.
In any case, the record shows Sidoti capi-
talized Trinity through the Francis Group
and First Sierra. We therefore affirm the
district court’s findings, and we now turn
to the remedies the district court fash-
ioned.

B. Remedies

[7,8] We will not disturb the district
court’s choice of an equitable remedy ex-
cept for abuse of discretion. See Godfrey
v. BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc., 893
F.3d 755, 757 (11th Cir.1996). The district
court issued a permanent injunction
against further violations. In light of the
likelihood of future violations, the district
court did not abuse its discretion in enjoin-
ing further violations of the Act. See SEC
2. Carriba Air, Inc, 681 F.2d 1318, 1322
(11th Cir.1982); SEC v. Blatt, 583 F.2d
1325, 1334 (5th Cir.1978).

{9,10] The district court also ordered
Appellants to disgorge all profits obtained
from January 1, 1990, to September 29,

tion application or any report filed with the
Commission’”); 17 C.F.R. § 3.31 (requiring
the reporting of any deficiencies, inaccura-
cies, or changes in prior registration state-
ments).
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1997, the date of the order. None of the
parties disputes the propriety of disgorge-
ment as an equitable remedy. Neverthe-
less, the CFTC has the burden of proving
the disgorgement figure reasonably ap-
proximates the amount of unjust enrich-
ment. See CFTC v. American Metals Ex-
change Corp., 991 F.2d 71, 79 (3d Cir.1993)
(“[TThe district court should keep in mind
the limitation placed on its equitable pow-
ers by this requirement that there be a
relationship between the amount of dis-
gorgement and the amount of ill-gotten
gain.”); SEC v. First City Fin. Corp., 890
F.2d 1215, 1231 (D.C.Cir.1989). As a cor-
ollary to this rule, the district court may
not disgorge profits obtained without the
aid of any wrongdoing. See First City,
890 F.2d at 1231 (“Since disgorgement pri-
marily serves to prevent unjust enrich-
ment, the court may exercise its equitable
power only over property causally related
to the wrongdoing.... [Dlisgorgement
may not be used punitively.”).

1. Disgorgement of Profits from Car-
rington and Wuensch

[11] The CFTC contends and the dis-
trict court agreed that the systematic and
pervasive nature of fraud at Trinity and
Carrington made all of their profits unlaw-
ful. Wuensch and Carrington, however,
challenge the breadth of the disgorgement
order. They contend the district court
should have limited the period of disgorge-
ment to the period of time as to which the
district court received evidence of fraud.
We agree.

Based upon an in limine motion filed by
the CFTC, the district court limited the
evidence at trial to pre-1995 conduct by
Appellants. Therefore, there was no rec-
ord evidence of fraud in 1995, 1996, or
1997. A district court may not order dis-
gorgement of profits for a period during
which there was no record evidence of

5. On February 8, 1999, the CFTC advised us
pursuant to Fed. R.App. P. 28(j) of an order
the district court issued during the pendency
of this appeal. On January 22, 1999, the
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fraud. Cf First City, 890 F.2d at 1231. If
the CFTC had wanted the district court to
disgorge profits after 1994, it should have
introduced évidence of fraud occurring af-
ter 1994. Accordingly, we hold the district
court abused its discretion by ordering
disgorgement of post-1994 profits.

2. Disgorgement of Profits from Sidoti

[12] The CFTC contends Sidoti’s fail-
ure to register as a principal of Trinity
provides the nexus for deeming illegal all
profits received by him in connection with
Trinity. Sidoti asserts the district court
should not have ordered disgorgement
from him at all because his failure to regis-
ter as a principal, by itself, does not justify
disgorgement. We agree.

The CFTC did not allege Sidoti knew of,
much less participated in, any of the fraud-
ulent conduct at Trinity or Carrington.
The CFTC merely alleged Sidoti failed to
register as a principal of Trinity. Sidoti’s
failure to register, by itself, is not causally
related to Trinity’s ill-gotten profits. In-
deed, the CFTC has not cited and we are
not aware of any case in which a court has
disgorged profits from a defendant whom
it finds liable solely for failure to register
as a principal. A district court may not
disgorge profits, unless there is record -
evidenee the defendant is liable (either di-
rectly or indirectly) for fraud. Cf First
City, 890 F.2d at 1231. Accordingly, we
hold the district court abused its discretion
by ordering disgorgement of profits from
Sidoti.

III. CONCLUSION

In accordance with the foregoing, we
affirm the district court’s judgment as to
liability, as well as its order enjoining fu-
ture violations, but vacate the district
court’s disgorgement order and remand
for entry of judgment consistent with this
opinion.®

district court issued an order accepting in

part and rejecting in part the receiver’s report

and recommendation (1/22/99 Order). It ap-
pears that after the receiver determined the
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AFFIRMED in part, VACATED in
part, and REMANDED.

O & KEY NUMBER SYSTEM

~{tmE

Ernesto Alonso MEJIA RODRIGUEZ,
Petitioner-Appellant,

V.

Janet RENO, as Attorney General of the
United States, and the Immigration
and Naturalization Service, Respon-
dents—Appellees.

Ernesto Alonso Mejia Rodriguez,
Petitioner,

V.

Immigration and Naturalization
Service, Respondent.

Nos. 98-4426, 98-5878.

United States Court of Appeals,
Eleventh Circuit.

June 22, 1999,

Alien petitioned for review of decision
of the Board of Immigration Appeals
(BIA), INS No. A29-362-615, denying his
motion to reopen his deportation proceed-
ings. While his motion to reopen was still
pending before the BIA, alien filed a habe-
as corpus petition challenging his deporta-
tion order. The United States District
Court for the Southern District of Florida,
No. 97-CV-3108-JAL, Joan A. Lenard, J.,

amount of disgorgement, the district court
changed its mind as to one of the issues on
appeal before us—disgorgement from Sidoti.
Notwithstanding the order from which the
parties appealed, the district court now
writes:
Given the lack of evidentiary basis to sup-
port the conclusion that the [profits] that
Sidoti received from Trinity constitute[ ] ill
gotten gains that can be causally connected
to his failure to register, the Court declines

dismissed the petition, and alien appealed.
After consolidating the appeals, the Court
of Appeals, Hull, Circuit Judge, held that:
(1) alien’s motion to reopen deportation
proceedings was untimely, where motion
was filed on more than 90 days after his
final deportation order, which was entered
in 1994, and almost a year after the Sep-
tember 30, 1996 regulatory deadline, and
(2) attorney’s deficient representation does
not deprive an alien of due process if the
deficient representation merely prevents
the alien from being eligible for suspension
of deportation, as alien has no constitution-
al right to suspension of deportation.

Final order of deportation affirmed;
appeal from denial habeas corpus dis-
missed as moot.

1. Aliens &54.3(3)

Court of Appeals reviews for an abuse
of discretion a denial by the Board of
Immigration Appeals (BIA) of a motion to
reopen deportation proceedings.

2. Aliens ¢=54(5)

Alien’s motion to reopen deportation
proceedings was untimely, where motion
was filed on September 26, 1997 more than
90 days after his final deportation order,
which was entered in 1994, and almost a
year after the September 30, 1996 regula-
tory deadline. 8 C.F.R. § 3.2(c)(2).

3. Constitutional Law &=274.3

Aliens enjoy the right to the effective
assistance of counsel in deportation pro-
ceedings under the Due Process Clause.
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 5.

to approve the Receiver’s recommendation

that disgorgement [] be ordered against

Sidoti. :
1/22/99 Order at 4. We need not address
whether the district court had jurisdiction to
enter the 1/22/99 Order, as this opinion moots
the issue of disgorgement from Sidoti and
requires the district court to revise the
amount of disgorgement from Carrington and
Wauensch.



